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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


The State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts filed a complaint on December 26, 2000, alleging cause for discipline against Judith A. Taylor, M.D., on four counts.  The Board has dismissed Count I, which alleged deficiencies in patient care.  The parties have filed a Joint Stipulation of Facts applicable to Counts II, III, and IV.  They have agreed, and we concur, that the facts as stipulated constitute cause for discipline under Counts II and IV, which allege violations of sections 334.100.2(13) and 334.100.2(23).
  The parties have not agreed, and we therefore decide, whether the facts constitute cause for discipline under Count III, which alleges that Taylor dispensed controlled substances in containers that did not meet federal child safety 

standards in violation of  section 334.100.2(13) and 19 CSR 30-1.035(3)(B).  The case became ready for our decision when the last brief was filed on April 8, 2002.

Findings of Fact

1.
Taylor is licensed by the Board as a physician.  Her license, No. MD36348, was current and active at all times relevant to this proceeding.

2.
Between September 1, 1996, and September 15, 1997, Taylor practiced at two office locations with Dennis Crisp, M.D.  One office was located at South Hocker Drive, Independence, Missouri.  Taylor was registered to dispense controlled substances at the South Hocker Drive office.  Taylor also practiced periodically at an office located at 230 Northeast Barry Road, Kansas City, Missouri.

3.
Between September 1, 1996, and September 15, 1997, Taylor distributed phentermine, Pondimin and Redux from her registered location on South Hocker Drive to 

Dr. Crisp, at the Northeast Barry Road office.  Phentermine, Pondimin, and Redux are all Schedule IV controlled substances.  Dr. Crisp was not registered to dispense controlled substances at the Northeast Barry Road office.

4.
Representatives of the Missouri Department of Health’s Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs (BNDD) visited Taylor’s offices on or about November 28, 1999.  Taylor dispensed controlled substances in paper envelopes from both her office locations.  In each instance that Taylor dispensed medication in a paper envelope, the patient had completed a form that contained the following statement:

Missouri law states…

…”physicians who elect to dispense medication must comply with the regulations governing the types of containers that may be used to repackage prescription drugs as specified by federal law, rule or regulation unless the individual to whom the drug is dispensed gives written authorization for the container to be otherwise.”

I prefer to have my weight loss medications dispensed in (circle letter indicating answer):

A.
Paper envelope

B.
Approved childproof container

5.
On or about November 30, 1998, Taylor executed a Consent Judgment and Order in the U.S. District Court, Western District of Missouri, Western Division.  The Consent Judgment and Order was brought under the federal Controlled Substances Act, 21 U.S.C. §§ 801, 842, 881 et seq., for alleged violations relating to Taylor’s improper distribution, dispensing, packing and record keeping of controlled substances.  Taylor agreed to a $50,000 monetary penalty and to a permanent injunction from the court restricting her activities and conduct with regard to controlled substances.

6.
The restrictions agreed to by Taylor include 1) her agreement to unannounced, warrantless inspections by U.S. law enforcement officers for compliance with the Controlled Substances Act, and 2) a requirement that Taylor employ a third-party pharmacist to review and monitor the status and validity of her Drug Enforcement Administration registrations and to review and monitor Taylor’s distributing, dispensing, packaging and record keeping of controlled substances to ensure her compliance with federal law.  On June 9, 1999, a Satisfaction of Judgment was filed in U.S. v. Taylor, et al., No. 98-1250-CV-W-2.

6.
On November 3, 1999, Taylor voluntarily surrendered her Drug Enforcement Certificate of Registration.

7.
Taylor was denied a Missouri Controlled Substances Registration by the BNDD on September 8, 2000.  The BNDD issued her a certificate on May 19, 2001.

Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear the Board’s complaint under section 334.100.2.  The Board has the burden of proving that Taylor has committed conduct for which the law allows discipline.  Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 654 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  

Count II


Federal drug regulations require that a physician who distributes a controlled substance to another physician for dispensing by the receiving physician ensure that the receiving physician is appropriately registered to dispense the controlled substance being distributed.  Title 16 C.F.R. §1307.11(a)(1).  The parties agree that Taylor did not ensure that Dr. Crisp was registered, and therefore violated section 334.100.2(13), which provides for discipline for any violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government.  We concur.

Count III

The Board cites section 334.100.2(13), which allows discipline for “[v]iolation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government,” and 19 CSR 30-1.035(3)(B)(1995), which provides in part:

(3)  An individual practitioner who dispenses controlled substances shall –

*   *   *


(B) Package all controlled substances dispensed from an individual practitioner’s inventory in compliance with the Poison Prevention Packaging Act of 1970, 15 U.S.C. 1471-1476[.]

The Board further alleges that 15 U.S.C. 1471(4) requires:  

packaging that is designed or constructed to be significantly difficult for children under five years of age to open or obtain a toxic or harmful amount of the substance contained therein within a reasonable time and not difficult for normal adults to use 

properly, but does not mean packaging which all such children cannot open or obtain a toxic or harmful amount within a reasonable time. 

Taylor, however, cites 15 U.S.C. 1473 (b), which provides:

In the case of a household substance[
] which is subject to such a standard and which is dispensed pursuant to an order of physician, dentist, or other licensed medical practitioner authorized to prescribe, such substance may be dispensed in noncomplying packages only when directed in such order or when requested by the purchaser.

(Emphasis added.)


Taylor dispensed controlled substances in a paper envelope only to patients who had executed a form indicating whether they preferred to have their medications dispensed in a paper envelope or an approved childproof container.  Dispensing controlled substances in such “noncomplying packages” does not contravene federal or Missouri law when it is pursuant to patient request.  We find no grounds to discipline Taylor on Count III.

Count IV


Taylor executed a Consent Judgment and Order in federal court for violations of the federal Controlled Substances Act on November 30, 1998.  She surrendered her Drug Enforcement Certificate of Registration on November 3, 1999, and she was denied a Missouri Controlled Substances Registration by the BNDD on September 8, 2000.  The parties agree that these facts establish cause to discipline her license under section 334.100.2(13) as violations of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state, or the federal government. 

Count IV of the Board’s complaint, however, alleges that these facts establish grounds to discipline her license under section 334.100.2(23), which provides for discipline in the event of “[r]evocation, suspension, limitation or restriction of any kind whatsoever of any controlled substance authority, whether agreed to voluntarily or not[.]”  

Taylor’s consent judgment is evidence that she violated federal drug laws, so we concur with the parties’ conclusion that she is subject to discipline under section 334.100.2(13) on this count.  We also conclude that these facts establish cause for discipline under section 334.100.2(23), as alleged in the Board’s complaint.

Request for Recommendation of Discipline


Taylor asks that we recommend the degree of appropriate discipline to the Board pursuant to section 621.110.  She argues that she has fully accepted responsibility for her failure to obtain the proper registrations for the Northeast Barry Road location by entering into a federal settlement that required her to pay a $50,000 civil money penalty and hire a third-party monitor to review any controlled substance activities.  She has also entered into a settlement with the BNDD that requires various compliance measures, including a practice monitor if she dispenses controlled substances from any location where she practices medicine.  By virtue of the federal consent judgment and her settlement with the BNDD, Taylor submits that her conduct in relation to the distribution, dispensing and packaging of controlled substances has been adequately addressed and sanctioned.  She asks that we issue a non-binding recommendation for a censure or warning for her conduct.


Taylor is correct that we have the power to make such a non-binding recommendation.  We seldom exercise that prerogative, however.  We believe that exercising it may be appropriate in certain cases, such as those in which we have heard all the evidence, witnessed the demeanor 

of the licensee, and discerned compelling circumstances to make such a recommendation.  We are mindful of Taylor’s arguments, but we do not believe under the current case that we are in a better position than the Board to determine what the appropriate degree of discipline is.  Therefore, we decline to issue such a recommendation.

Summary

Taylor’s license is subject to discipline under section 334.100.2(13) on Counts II and IV of the Board’s complaint, and under section 334.100.2(23) on Count IV.  Taylor is not subject to discipline on Count III.

SO ORDERED on May 3, 2002.


____________________________


KAREN A. WINN


Commissioner

	�Statutory references are to the 2000 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.  The Board’s complaint alleged violations of sections 334.100.2(13) and (23), RSMo. Supp. 1999.  The parties’ stipulation and conclusions of law, however, refer to RSMo 2000.  As there are no discernible differences among the 1999 and 2000 versions of these statutes, we will refer to RSMo 2000.


	�“Household substance” is defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1471 as any food, drug, or cosmetic as defined in 21 U.S.C. §321.  “Drug” is defined under 21 U.S.C. §321(g) as “(A) articles recognized in the official United States Pharmacopoeia, official Homeopathic Pharmacopoeia of the United States, or official National Formulary, or any supplement to any of them; and (B) articles intended for use in the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease in man or animals[.]”  Although there is no evidence in the record that the drugs Taylor dispensed are recognized in the United States Pharmacopoeia, they are controlled substances, and they were dispensed by a physician.  Therefore, we conclude that they meet the definition of “drug” in 21 U.S.C. § 321 and are therefore a “household substance.”  Furthermore, it seems clear from the context of 15 U.S.C. §1473(b) that “household substances” include drugs prescribed by a physician.
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